MARGARET STROUP v. CENTRAL PENINSULA HOSPITAL

[image: image1.png]


ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	MARGARET  STROUP, 

                                                 Employee, 

                                                 Petitioner

                                                   v. 

CENTRAL PENINSULA GENERAL 

HOSPITAL,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

LIBERTY MUTUAL MIDDLE MARKET

and LIBERTY NORTHWEST 

INSURANCE CORPORATION,

                                                 Insurer,

                                                 Respondent.
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DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No(s).  200819837
AWCB Decision No.  11-0159
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska 

on November 3, 2011


Margaret Stroup’s Petition to Quash Employer’s independent medical evaluation (EME) was heard in Anchorage, Alaska, on October 12, 2011.  Attorney Eric Croft represented Margaret Stroup (Claimant).   Attorney Robin Gabbert represented employer Central Peninsula General Hospital (CPH) and its insurer Liberty Mutual Middle Market and Liberty Northwest Insurance Corporation (Liberty), collectively “Employer.”  Ryan Smith, former Chief Executive Officer of CPH, testified telephonically for Claimant.  Ms. Stroup testified telephonically on her own behalf.  Testifying for Employer were Roseann Freitag, Liberty nurse case manager, and behavioral medical case manager Kate Harri, MA, licensed psychologist.  The record closed at the hearing’s conclusion on October 12, 2011.  In order to make travel arrangements for Claimant’s attendance at the EME, or to timely cancel the EME, Employer requested an interim order on expedited consideration, with the full decision and order to follow.  Claimant’s petition to quash an EME with Keyhill Sheorn, MD as an excessive change of physician was granted on October 13, 2011.  However, after thoroughly reviewing of the complete case file, on its own motion, and in accordance with AS 23.30.130, the panel reversed its previous summary decision, concluding the psychiatric evaluation with Dr. Keyhill Sheorn is not an excessive change of physician in violation of AS 23.30.095(e) and applicable regulations.  This decision and order details the findings of fact, reasoning and conclusions of law supporting the modified interim order denying the petition to quash.

Preliminary matters considered included Employer’s motion to strike Claimant’s hearing brief, witness list, and deny witness testimony, alleging the brief and witness list were filed a day late, in violation of 8 AAC 45.112 and 8 AAC 45.114.  The hearing brief and witness list were determined to have been timely filed in accordance with 8 AAC 45.063, 8 AAC 45.112 and 8 AAC 45.114, and the motion was denied. Claimant’s hearing brief and witness list were allowed, and Claimant’s witness, Ryan Smith, was permitted to testify.  Ms. Stroup’s testimony was permissible under 8 AAC 45.112(1) in any event.  The propriety of allowing Claimant’s hearing brief, witness list and witness testimony is addressed below.

Employer also sought to have excluded exhibits numbered 1-4, appended to Claimant’s hearing brief, and consisting of selected entries from Liberty’s nurse case manager notes, as well as the comprehensive set of nurse case manager notes Claimant obtained from Employer through discovery and offered into evidence.   Employer contended these exhibits were filed in violation of 8 AAC 45.120(f), thereby depriving Employer of its right to cross-examine the notes’ authors.  Employer did not object to exhibits numbered 5-8 appended to Claimant’s brief.  Claimant’s exhibits 1-4, and the full set of nurse case manager notes, were admitted under 8 AAC 45.110(a) and (b), 8 AAC 45.120(e), and under 8 AAC 45.120(i), after the board determined the documents were admissible under hearsay exceptions to the Alaska Rules of Evidence.  However, Employer was permitted to call as witnesses any authors of nurse case manager notes not listed on its witness list, and did so by calling Roseann Freitag, RN.  Employer was also offered the opportunity to call additional witnesses for whose testimony the record would remain open, but other than Ms. Freitag, Employer called no other witnesses.  Instead, Employer asked that the record close and the panel expedite its decision on the underlying petition to quash the EME.  The propriety of admitting the nurse case manager notes is memorialized below.


ISSUES

Employer contended Claimant’s hearing brief and witness list were filed one day late, the brief and witness list should be stricken, and Claimant should be denied the opportunity to call witnesses.  Claimant contended her brief and witness list were timely filed.

1.     Were Claimant’s hearing brief and witness list timely filed and thus properly allowed, and was Claimant properly permitted to call witnesses?

Employer contended the nurse case manager notes Claimant sought to admit into evidence were untimely filed under 8 AAC 45.120(f), depriving Employer of its right to cross-examine the authors of those notes, and the evidence should be disallowed.  Claimant contended 8 AAC 45.120(f) is a rule of inclusion, not exclusion of evidence, the documents were not untimely filed, and the documents, obtained from Employer, are admissible under hearsay exceptions in the Alaska Rules of Evidence.

2.     Were the nurse case manager notes properly admitted into evidence?

Claimant contends there is a conflict of interest between Employer CPH and its insurer Liberty. Citing AS 23.30.095(e) and Seley v. Pacific Log & Lumber, Ltd., AWCB Decision No. 07-0033 (February 23, 2007), where such a conflict exists, Claimant contends, the employer, not the insurer, may schedule an EME, and the insurer-scheduled EME in this case is impermissible.  Employer contends no conflict of interest exists and the EME was properly scheduled.

3.     Was the EME impermissibly scheduled by the insurer?  

Claimant contends she has been previously examined by numerous Employer-selected providers, the EME scheduled with Keyhill Sheorn, M.D. is an impermissible excessive change of physician under AS 23.30.095(e) and should be quashed.   Employer contends mental health providers Claimant has seen were either behavioral medical case managers or treating physicians, not EME physicians, and its selection of psychiatrist Keyhill Sheorn, M.D. is not an excessive change of physician.  Employer further contends its EME panel referred Claimant to Dr. Sheorn, and referral to a specialist by the employer’s physician is not a change of physician.  

4.      Is the medical evaluation scheduled with Keyhill Sheorn, M.D. an excessive change of physician by Employer?

FINDINGS OF FACT

Evaluation of the record as a whole establishes the following facts and factual conclusions by a preponderance of the evidence:

1.
On November 26, 2008, Claimant, the Director of Imaging at Central Peninsula Hospital (CPH) in Soldotna, Alaska, was shot twice with an assault rifle, in the right chest and abdomen, by a disgruntled former employee.  A co-worker was killed.  The perpetrator was shot and killed by police.  Claimant suffered massive physical injuries and blood loss, and received critical care at CPH, Providence Alaska Medical Center (PAMC) in Anchorage, and Harborview Medical Center (HMC) in Seattle.  (CPH Emergency Dept. Note, November 26, 2008; record).

2.
On December 3, 2008, Employer’s workers’ compensation nurse case manager, Roseann Freitag, contacted Behavioral Medical Interventions (BMI), a behavioral medicine management firm, “for assistance in evaluating and managing psychological issues potentially related to this incident.”  BMI was thereafter retained by Employer to provide “full case management.”  (Adjuster notes, December 3, 2008; Freitag testimony).

3.
On December 4, 2008, Claimant was assessed by PAMC, Mark Samson, M.D. Dr. Samson diagnosed Acute Stress Disorder (ASD) resulting from psychological stressors arising from the shooting at work.  Where, as here, the employee was receiving service at a hospital or an emergency care facility, under 8 AAC 45.082(c)(2)(A) Dr. Samson was neither an employee or employer choice of physician.  (Consultation note, December 4, 2008; experience, observation, unique facts of the case).  

4.
  On December 26, 2008, Claimant was assessed by HMC clinical psychologist JoAnn Brockway, Ph.D.  Dr. Brockway noted Claimant reporting frequent nightmares, daily flashbacks, and panic attacks.  Dr. Brockway also diagnosed ASD.  Here too, where the employee was receiving service at a hospital or an emergency care facility, Dr. Brockway was neither an employee or employer choice of physician.   (Rehabilitation Psychology Initial Evaluation, December 26, 2008; experience, observation, unique facts of the case).

5.
   On January 23, 2009, Claimant reported to Employer’s nurse case manager (NCM), Roseann Freitag, she had spoken to several psychologists when hospitalized, was doing “OK,” and preferred to follow-up with her pastor concerning the mental trauma of the assault.  (NCM note, January 23, 2009).

6.
  On February 26, 2009, Ms. Freitag spoke with BMI’s Kate Harri.  Although Ms. Freitag’s notes refer to Ms. Harri as a Ph.D. psychologist, Ms. Harri is a masters level licensed psychologist.  (Harri testimony, correspondence).  Ms. Freitag testified her misunderstanding of Ms. Harri’s credentials was based on her erroneous belief a licensed psychologist, as Ms. Harri denotes herself, implied she held a Ph.D. in psychology. (NCM note, February 26, 2009; Freitag).  

7.
From Ms. Freitag’s February 26, 2009 note, it appears Ms. Harri had been in touch with Claimant, and believed Claimant would benefit from her “coaching,” to put the shooting in perspective and improve her recovery.  Ms. Harri believed she could teach Claimant skills that would allow her to return to work, to “box up the event” and “put it on a shelf.”  She stated this coaching usually takes about 2-3 months.  (NCM note, February 26, 2009).

8.
  On March 10, 2009, Claimant reported to Ms. Freitag she had spoken with Ms. Harri, it was a positive experience, and they had an appointment to speak again.  Claimant continued to speak with Ms. Harri telephonically, approximately twice per week thereafter, and at less frequent intervals when Claimant was receiving face to face counseling with another therapist.   (Harri; NCM note, March 10, 2009, NCM notes, various).

9.
  On May 11, 2009, Ms. Freitag notes having received and reviewed a written report from Ms. Harri.  Ms. Freitag notes Harri reporting Claimant’s flashbacks and nightmares having lessened but are still present such that she cannot yet return to work.  She continues having anxiety and fear.  Harri recommended Claimant be referred for in person counseling to address anxiety and flashbacks.  (NCM note, May 11, 2009).

10.
  On May 27, 2009, Harri recommended Claimant meet with a counselor for a maximum of 10 sessions to help move treatment along and help her “deal w/her symptoms.”  Ms. Freitag then directed to Ms. Harri Employer’s list of “preferred providers (psychologists),” and instructed Ms. Harri to contact them and select an appropriate counselor for Claimant.  (Harri; NCM note, May 27, 2009).

11.
  On June 10, 2009, Ms. Harri reported to Freitag she reviewed the list of psychologists supplied to her, had interviewed four, and selected Ronald Brill, Ph. D. for Claimant’s care.  Freitag noted Harri reporting Dr. Brill “was focused on short term treatment and had experience with anxiety, depression and pain management.”  (NCM note, June 10, 2009).  Harri did not provide Claimant with the names of any providers other than Dr. Brill. (Harri, Claimant).

12.
 On June 15, 2009, Claimant completed Dr. Brill’s intake sheet, indicating she had been referred to him by Liberty.  (Information Sheet, June 15, 2009).

13.
Claimant never designated Dr. Brill as her attending physician.  (record; experience, observation, unique facts of case and inferences therefrom; counsel statement at hearing).

14.
 On June 30, 2009,  Freitag noted Claimant was seeing Dr. Brill “for short term (5-10 sessions) of counseling to focus on symptoms management,” and had had one or two session thus far.  (NCM note, June 30, 2009).

15.
 On July 6, 2009, the NCM was changed from Ms. Freitag to another NCM licensed to practice in Virginia, where Claimant was then living.  (NCM note, July 6, 2009).

16.  On August 3, 2009, Ms. Harri conferred with Dr. Brill and directed him to work with Claimant on ways to increase her stress resilience generally.  Dr. Brill replied he would look at how Ms. Harri’s treatment instructions might be incorporated into his then current treatment plan.  (Letter from Harri to Brill, with Dr. Brill signed concurrence, August 5, 2009).  

17.   On August 12, 2009, Ms. Harri reported to Employer, indicating she would be discussing Claimant’s status with Dr. Brill monthly, and by the end of August, 2009, would be setting a timeline with him for Claimant’s termination from therapy.   (Letter from Harri to Freitag, August 12, 2009).  

18.    In discussions with Dr. Brill in September, 2009, and in writing, Ms. Harri again requested Dr. Brill work on Claimant’s stress resilience.  She suggested Dr. Brill employ self-soothing and relaxation strategies, and sought and received Dr. Brill’s agreement his emphasis should not be to make Claimant dependent on therapy to feel better, but to increase her self-reliance, build on her skills and competence, and once skills were taught and reinforced, decrease her sessions to weekly as opposed to twice weekly.  (Letter from Harri to Brill, with Brill’s signed concurrence, September 4, 2009).  

19.    A September 21, 2009 nurse case management note reflects Claimant having seen Dr. Brill on 22 occasions.  (NCM note, September 21, 2009).

20.
On October 7, 2009, Harri again reported to Freitag she would be setting a timeline with Dr. Brill for Claimant’s termination from therapy.  (Letter from Harri to Freitag, October 7, 2009).

21.
In her contacts with Dr. Brill, more fully described in Findings of Fact 16, 17, 18 and 20, BMI’s Kate Harri, on behalf of Employer, was directing Claimant’s care under Dr. Brill.  Employer selected Dr. Brill, Dr. Brill rendered opinions concerning Claimant’s mental health, and Claimant never designated Dr. Brill as her attending physician.  Dr. Brill constituted Employer’s first choice of physician.  (experience, observations, unique facts of the case, and inferences drawn therefrom).

22.
Claimant continued to see Dr. Brill until on or about December 12, 2009, when he relocated his office a greater distance from Claimant’s then place of residence.  (NCM notes, November 17, 2009, December 2, 2009, various).  

23.
In April, 2010, Claimant began seeing Jill Smeltzer, LCSW, for weekly or bi-weekly counseling and biofeedback.  The manner in which she was referred to Ms. Smeltzer is unclear from the record, although it appears Ms. Smeltzer was another BMI choice.  In March, 2010, Ms. Harri noted her intent to “find another therapist that specializes in PTSD/trauma with a focus on cognitive behavior strategies,” and Ms. Smeltzer’s session notes appear on a form titled “Post-Robbery Individual Session Summary,” which contain the following instructions from BMI to the provider:

After completion of the session, please complete the following steps:


1.  Call BMI (866-927-0184) to discuss outcomes and next steps at (sic)


2.  Call a brief verbal report to CCN’s report line (888-736-0911x3x1), 


including:



a.  “Met with employee” or “Did not meet with employee” and



b.  Next appointment date, if applicable


3.  Fax completed timesheet, signed contract and completed release of      


information to CCN at 616-257-3515.


4.  Fax this completed page and release of information to BMI at 952-927-

7147.

(NCM note, May 13, 2010, June 1, 2010; Smeltzer Session Summary, April 17, 2010; Confidential Progress Report for period 1/25/10 through 3/15/10, Harri to NCM, June 4, 2010 Confidential Progress Report for period 3/15/10 through 6/1/10, Harri to NCM, June 4, 2010 ).

24.
Ms. Smeltzer, a licensed clinical social worker (LCSW), is not a doctor of medicine or psychology, and her selection does not constitute an employer change of physician.  (experience, observations, unique facts of the case, and inferences drawn therefrom).

25.
In October, 2010, Claimant began seeing Cheryl Harrell, LCSW.  The manner in which she was referred to Ms. Harrell is unclear from the record, although Ms. Harrell’s reports appear on the same BMI forms as those of Ms. Smeltzer.  (Harrell Session Summary, October 7, 2010; Confidential Progress Report for period 10/29/10 through 11/29/10, Harri to NCM, November 29, 2010).

26.
Ms. Harrell, also a licensed clinical social worker, is not a doctor of medicine or of psychology, and her selection does not constitute an employer change of physician.  (experience, observations, unique facts of the case, and inferences drawn therefrom).

27.
In November, 2010, Employer began considering a panel EME.  (NCM note, November, 22, 2010). 

28.
By January 13, 2011, Employer had organized a panel comprised of rheumatologist, Peter Mohai, M.D., orthopedic surgeon, Timothy P. Daly, M.D., and otolaryngologist Gregory K. Chan, M.D.  (record; NCM notes various, observation and inferences drawn therefrom). 

29.
Employer elected not to include a psychiatrist or psychologist on the Seattle EME panel,  expressing its intent BMI would provide recommendations on future psychological or psychiatric needs through a records review.  (NCM note, January 26, 2010; record; NCM notes various, observation and inferences drawn therefrom).  

30.
On January 27, 2011, the panel EME took place in Seattle. (EME Reports, Drs. Mohai, Daly, Chan, January 27, 2011).

31.
Employer’s Seattle physician panel constituted employer’s one authorized change of physician.   (experience, observations, unique facts of the case and inferences drawn therefrom).

32.
       In his January 27, 2011 EME report, rheumatologist Dr. Mohai, responding to the question “Can claimant return to work with or without restrictions?  If restrictions, what are they?” responded:

In regards to her musculoskeletal symptoms, based on objective findings, I find no basis for restriction.  In my opinion, her current residuals are still the consequences of recovery from her multiple intra-abdominal and intra-thoracic injuries.  I suspect also a significant psychiatric component, including PTSD, but would defer to a psychiatric consultant in regards to psychiatric issues.  

(Dr. Mohai EME Report, January 27, 2011).

33.
   EME doctors Daly and Chan made no references to Claimant’s mental health in their reports.  (EME reports, January 27, 2011).

34.
  On March 9, 2011, Claimant filed a workers’ compensation claim (WCC) seeking temporary total disability (TTD) from November 26, 2008 and continuing, a compensation rate adjustment, and a review of reemployment eligibility. (Claim).

35.
On March 28, 2011, Ms. Harri wrote to the insurance adjuster, noting she would be working with Ms. Harrell to outline specific goals to work toward, and a potential termination date for therapy.  (Harri letter to Alicia Aros, March 28, 2011).

36.
 On April 5, 2011, the Law Offices of Tasha Porcello, in-house counsel for Liberty, filed an Answer to the WCC on behalf of Employer CPH and its insurer Liberty.  (Answer).

37.
On April 21, 2011, the Croft Law Office entered its appearance on behalf of Claimant, and filed a second WCC, seeking medical and transportation costs, permanent total disability (PTD) benefits from November 26, 2008 and continuing, attorney fees and costs.  (Entry of Appearance; WCC, April 21, 2011).

38.
On April 21, 2011, Dr. Brill wrote “To Whom it May Concern,” noting that while he had not had any contact with Claimant for well over a year, he had had two recent communications from her, and reported he had “no doubt that she is in serious need of further treatment for the symptoms of PTSD which she continues to describe.”  He recommended further neurofeedback training, which he noted has been shown to be of great benefit in treating PTSD.  (Brill letter, April 21, 2011).

39.
On May 5, 2011, BMI’s Tom Farrington, Psy. D., and Jennifer Kurtz, Psy.D., in Ms. Harri’s absence and stead, responding to a question posed by Claimant, reported to the insurer Claimant experiences an aggravation of psychological symptoms when she returns to Alaska, “as this is where she experienced the trauma of being shot by a former employee she had fired; her co-worker was killed, and the former employee killed himself as well.”  Drs. Farrington and Kurtz opined it was not in the best interest of Claimant’s psychological health to return to Alaska at that time.  (Letter from Farrington and Kurtz to Aros, May 5, 2011).  

40.  In a May 9, 2011, addendum to his initial EME report, Dr. Daly, responding to the question posed by Employer’s counsel:  “Would you recommend a psychiatric or mental health professional examine Ms. Stroup to comment upon her present or future ability to return to work from a mental health standpoint?  If so, please recommend an appropriate physician,” noted:

I will also defer.  Psychiatric evaluation of the claimant has been requested and psychiatric evaluations have been obtained.  I will defer any recommendations relative to psychiatric issues to the appropriate experts.  This, again, is beyond my field of expertise as an orthopedist.

(Daly addendum, May 9, 2011, at 6).

41.
Dr. Mohai, in his addendum report, when asked if he was unable to comment upon a specific condition, and/or wished to defer to a physician or another specialty, to so state by indicating the specialty, or to refer to a specific physician, made no referrals.  Rather, he deferred opinion on Claimant’s vocal cord granuloma to panelist Dr. Chan, and on all other conditions deferred opinion to unnamed and otherwise unspecified gastrointestinal, pulmonary, orthopedic or psychiatric consultants.  (Mohai addendum, May 6, 2011, at 1-3).

42.
However, when finally asked if he recommended a psychiatric or mental health professional examination of Ms. Stroup to comment on her eligibility to return to work from a mental health standpoint, Dr. Mohai responded:  

Yes.  I do believe that she experienced an extremely psychologically traumatic event.  At the time of the examination, she was quite composed, cooperative and appropriate, but I believe that she should have a more detailed psychiatric evaluation by a psychiatric consultant.  

(Id. at 4).

43.  On May 12, 2011, the first prehearing conference in this case convened.  Claimant, her husband, and a representative from the Croft Law Office attended on Claimant’s behalf.  Ms. Porcello appeared for CPH and its insurer Liberty.  Ryan Smith, CEO of CPH, also attended.  Mr. Smith voiced concern over the relationship between the Employer and the attorney for the insurance company.  After a brief recess during which Mr. Smith and Ms. Porcello conferred in private, CPH and Liberty returned, and agreed on the record to a number of issues related to Claimant’s requests for benefits.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, May 12, 2011).

44.  
On May 16, 2011, Employer and Insurer, through Ms. Porcello, filed an Answer to Claimant’s April 21, 2011 WCC, and a Controversion Notice, denying PTD benefits.  (Answer, Controversion Notice).

45.
On May 18, 2011, Ms. Porcello filed an amended entry of appearance, reflecting she was then representing only Liberty.  At a May 18, 2011 prehearing conference, Ms. Porcello acknowledged a “possible” conflict of interest with Employer in that Employer’s interests “may” not be aligned with those of the insurer.  She noted she was not representing the Employer at this prehearing conference summary, only the insurer, and would be contacting Employer to explain its options.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, May 18, 2011).

46.
At a June 1, 2011 prehearing conference the law firm of Russell, Wagg, Gabbert & Budzinski (RWGB) informally appeared on behalf of both Liberty and CPH, and another attorney, Paul Davis, Esq., informally appeared stating he was CPH’s legal representative until such time as CPH determined who would be representing its interests.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, June 1, 2011).

47.
On June 13, 2011, RWGB formally entered its appearance on behalf of both Liberty and CPH.  (RWGB Entry of Appearance).

48.
On June 14, 2011, a further prehearing conference convened.  RWGB appeared on behalf of both Employer and Insurer.  Ryan Smith, CEO, and Terri Nettles, from CPH, appeared telephonically.  Claimant, her husband, and their attorney attended.  A hearing date was set for December 13, 2011.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, June 14, 2011).  

49.  
 No attorney, nor any other representative, has entered an appearance on behalf of Employer separately from the June 13, 2011 appearance filed by RWGB on behalf of both Employer and insurer.  (record).

50. 
 On June 21, 2011, in a visit with her primary care provider in Soldotna, John P. Bramante, MD, an internist with Peninsula Internal Medicine, PC, Claimant reported feeling her mental health is “slowly going downhill fast,” her dreams are vivid, and obtaining healthcare at CPH is emotionally charged.  (Progress Note, Dr. Bramante, June 21, 2011).

51.
On July 8, 2011, Claimant filed a third WCC, seeking payment to Jerry Stroup for home health care services provided to her during her recovery from procedures related to her colostomy, between December 1, 2008 through March 31, 2009; December 18, 2009 through March 31, 2010; and attorney fees and costs.  Employer answered the claim on July 28, 2011. (WCC; Answer).

52.  
  On July 13, 2011, Ms. Harri reported to the insurer Claimant’s psychological condition was worsening with an increase in her PTSD symptoms.  (Letter from Harri to Aros, July 13, 2011).


53.   In a July 21, 2011 office visit, Dr. Bramante diagnosed, inter alia, adjustment reaction and PTSD, and discussed with Claimant the appropriateness of a trial of antidepressant medication.  Claimant was started on sertraline at 25 mg/day with the dose increasing to 50 mg/day after one week.  (Progress Note, Dr. Bramante, July 21, 2011).  

54.   At an August 31, 2011 office visit, Dr. Bramante again diagnosed, inter alia, adjustment reaction and PTSD, noting anxiety remained an issue.  He maintained the sertraline dosage at 50 mg/day, and encouraged Claimant to be more liberal with the alprazolam when she is experiencing episodes of anxiety.  (Progress Note, Dr. Bramante, August 31, 2011).

55.
    On September 14, 2011, 
Employer notified Claimant it had arranged a psychiatric EME with Dr. Keyhill Sheorn, and she was instructed to attend on September 28, 2011.  (Letter from Aros to Claimant, September 14, 2011).

56.
   On September 19, 2011, Employer notified Claimant the EME with Dr. Sheorn had been rescheduled for October 26, 2011.  (Letter from Aros to Claimant, September 19, 2011).

57.   On September 28, 2011, Dr. Mohai, responding to Employer’s request he review Dr. Sheorn’s curriculum vitae (CV), opined that assuming the CV’s authenticity, Dr. Sheorn would be appropriate to perform the psychiatric consultation he recommended.  (Letter from Dr. Mohai to Aros, September 28, 2011).

58.    Nurse case managers were employed by Liberty to medically manage Claimant’s care.  In the course of their regularly conducted business activities, it was their practice to prepare and maintain  contemporaneous notes of all contacts with persons with knowledge of or involved in Claimant’s care.  (Freitag; nurse case manager notes admitted at hearing, erroneously labeled “Adjuster notes;” experience, observations, inferences drawn therefrom). 

59.   The nurse case manager notes Claimant sought to admit were prepared by Liberty’s nurse case managers as a regularly conducted business activity.  (Employer admission at hearing)

60.    The nurse case manager notes Claimant sought to admit at hearing were provided to Claimant by Employer in the usual course of informal discovery prior to hearing, with privileged information, such as attorney client communications, redacted.  (Nurse case manager notes; experience, observations, inferences drawn therefrom).  

61.    At the time of his testimony at hearing, Ryan Smith was no longer Employer’s CEO, having accepted a position at another facility beginning December 1, 2011, and been replaced by an interim CEO, Rick Davis, effective October 12, 2011.  (Smith; Employer statement at hearing).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001.  Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

(1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter; (2)  workers’ compensation cases shall be decided ontheir merits except where otherwise provided by statute;

(3)  this chapter may not be construed by the courts in favor of a party;

(4)  hearings in workers’ compensation cases shall be impartial and fair to all parties and that all parties shall be afforded due process and an opportunity to be heard and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.

AS 23.30.005.  Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board.
. . .

(h) The department shall adopt rules . . . and shall adopt regulations to carry out the provisions of this chapter. . . .  Process and procedure under this chapter shall be as summary and simple as possible.

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations. (a) . . . When medical care is required, the injured employee may designate a licensed physician to provide all medical and related benefits.  The employee may not make more than one change in the employee’s choice of attending physician without the written consent of the employer.  Referral to a specialist by the employee’s attending physician is not considered a change in physicians.  Upon procuring the services of a physician, the injured employee shall give proper notification of the selection to the employer within a reasonable time after first being treated. . . . .
. . .

(e) The employee shall, after an injury, at reasonable times during the continuance of the disability, if requested by the employer or when ordered by the board, submit to an examination by a physician or surgeon of the employer’s choice authorized to practice medicine under the laws of the jurisdiction in which the examination occurs, furnished and paid for by the employer.  The employer may not make more than one change in the employer’s choice of a physician or surgeon without the written consent of the employee.  Referral to a specialist by the employer’s physician is not considered a change in physicians.  An examination requested by the employer not less than 14 days after injury, and every 60 days thereafter, shall be presumed to be reasonable, and the employee shall submit to the examination without further request or order by the board.  Unless medically appropriate, the physician shall use existing diagnostic data to complete the examination. . . (emphasis added).

One reason for limiting the parties’ physician selections is to curb the potential abuse of “doctor shopping.” Bloom v. Tekton, Inc., 5 P.3d 235, 238 (Alaska 2000).  Following Bloom, the board, in Colette v. Arctic Lights Electric, AWCB Decision No. 05-0135 (May 19, 2005) held:  

The . . . Act . . . gives each injured worker the right to choose an attending physician.  AS 23.30.095(a).  Similarly the employer has a right to choose a physician to examine the employee.  AS 23.30.095(e).  However, to curb potential abuses -- especially doctor shopping -- the Act allows an injured worker or employer to change designated physicians only once without first obtaining the other party’s written consent.  The rule against excessive physician change is intended to curb opinion shopping.  See, e.g., HCS CCS SB 322 Sectional Analysis dated April 6, 1988.  However, when a designated physician refers the injured employee to a specialist, this is not considered a change in physician.  
AS 23.30.095(a) & (e). . . .

. . .

In McCall v. BP America, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 11-00124 (August 22, 2011), the board addressed employers’ use of medical management companies in workers’ compensation cases: 

Medical management is a valuable tool in the workers’ compensation arena.  It serves the dual function of assisting employee’s [sic] with managing complex medical conditions and rein[ing] in costs of treatment for employers.  It is not uncommon for these companies to have physicians involved in the formation, management, and operations [of the company].  

However, the board in McCall held that while a medical management company with a physician on the payroll is not necessarily an EME, where the services provided by a physician employed by the medical management company offer opinions which attempt to steer an employee’s medical care, a line is crossed, converting medical management into an EME.  

The law prohibits an insurer alone, over the opposition of the employer, to require an employee to submit to a medical examination under AS 23.30.095(e).  Seley v. Pacific Log & Lumber, Ltd., AWCB Decision No. 07-0033 (February 23, 2007).  

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter. The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. Declarations of a deceased employee concerning the injury in respect to which the investigation or inquiry is being made or the hearing conducted shall be received in evidence and are, if corroborated by other evidence, sufficient to establish the injury.

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board's “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-534 (Alaska 1987).  

AS 23.30.395.  Definitions.

In this chapter,

. . .

(3) ‘attending physician’ means one of the following designated by the employee under AS 23.30.095(a) or (b):

(A)  a licensed medical doctor;

(B)  a licensed doctor of osteopathy;

(C)  a licensed dentist or dental surgeon;

(D) a licensed physician assistant acting under supervision of a licensed medical doctor or doctor of osteopathy;

(E)  a licensed advanced nurse practitioner; or

(F)  a licensed chiropractor;

. . .

(31) ‘physician’ includes doctors of medicine, surgeons, chiropractors, osteopaths, dentists, and optometrists. . . . (emphasis added).

Addressing the statutory definition of “physician” in Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1258 (Alaska 2007), the court reasoned that the legislature’s choice of the word “includes” rather than choosing more “exclusive terms,” intended the list be “non-exclusive.”  Concluding the term “physician” includes “psychologists,” the court observed “[m]ental health specialists such as psychologists are in the best position to ensure effective treatment of mental injuries.”  It held that in cases involving “a mental injury” it is reasonable a doctor skilled in healing mental illness, “whether a Ph.D., Psy.D. or M.D.,” would be qualified to conduct an EME inquiry into an injured worker’s mental health.  The court noted it has “consistently credited the testimony of psychologists in worker’s compensation cases” and expressed the “firm belief” continuing to do so “is the proper course.” (footnote omitted). 

8 AAC 45.063. Computation of time. (a).  In computing any time period prescribed by the Act or this chapter, the day of the act, event, or default after which the designated period of time begins to run is not to be included.  The last day of the period is included, unless it is a Saturday, Sunday or a legal holiday, in which case the period runs until the end of the next day, which is neither a Saturday, Sunday nor a holiday.

Because the language of the regulation for computing time under the Act is identical to Alaska Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 6(a), the regulation is interpreted as it would be under the Civil Rules.  In re Rainbow Builders, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 10-0034 (February 17, 2010); House v. Bechtel, AWCB Decision No. 09-0184 (December 3,  2009), at n. 23.   (overturning Dial  v. Earthmovers, AWCB No. 91-0002 (January 3, 1991), Burgess v. Cameron Iron Works, AWCB No. 91-0144 (May 15, 1991)(decision written by a non-attorney hearing officer), and O’Kelley v. Willner’s Fuel Distributors, AWCB No. 92-0204 (August 21, 1992) (only reluctantly and “uncomfortably” following the old computation method, and recognizing its inconsistency with computing time under the civil rules).  

8 AAC 45.082. Medical treatment. . . .

. . .

 (c) Physicians may be changed as follows: 

. . .

(2) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, an employee injured on or after July 1, 1988, designates an attending physician by getting treatment, advice, an opinion, or any type of service from a physician for the injury. If an employee gets service from a physician at a clinic, all the physicians in the same clinic who provide service to the employee are considered the employee's attending physician. An employee does not designate a physician as an attending physician if the employee gets service

(A) at a hospital or an emergency care facility;

(B) from a physician 

(i) whose name was given to the employee by the employer and the employee does not designate that physician as the attending physician;

(ii) whom the employer directed the employee to see and the employee does not designate that physician as the attending physician; or

(iii) whose appointment was set, scheduled, or arranged by the employer, and the employee does not designate that physician as the attending physician. (emphasis added).

. . .

(3) For an employee injured on or after July 1, 1988, an employer’s choice of physician is made by having a physician or panel of physicians selected by the employer give an oral or written opinion and advice after examining the employee, the employee’s medical records, or an oral or written summary of the employee’s medical records.  To constitute a panel, for purposes of this paragraph, the panel must complete its examination, but not necessarily the report, within five days after the first physician sees the employee.  If more than five days pass between the time the first and last physicians see the employee, the physicians do not constitute a panel, but rather a change of physicians.  (emphasis added).

(4)  Regardless of an employee’s date of injury, the following is not a change of an attending physician:


(A)  the employee moves a distance of 50 miles or more from the attending physician and the employee does not get services from the attending physician after moving; the first physician providing services to the employee after the employee moves is a substitution of physicians and not a change of attending physicians;


(B)  the attending physician dies, moves the physician’s practice 50 miles or more from the employee, or refuses to provide services to the employee; the first physician providing services to the employer [sic] thereafter is a substitution of physicians and not a change of attending physicians;


(C)  the employer suggests, directs, or schedules an appointment with a physician other than the attending physician, the other physician provides services to the employee, and the employee does not designate in writing that physician as the attending physician;


(D)  the employee requests in writing that the employer consent to a change of attending physicians, the employer does not give written consent or denial to the employee within 14 days after receiving the request, and thereafter the employee gets services from another physician. (emphasis added).

8 AAC 45.110.  Record of proceedings.  (a)  Evidence, exhibits, or other things received in evidence at a hearing or otherwise placed in the record by board order and any thing filed in the case file established in accordance with 8 AAC 45.032 is the written record at a hearing before the board. . . (emphasis added).

. . .

(b)  Exhibits submitted at hearings will be kept by the board during the time for appeal.  When the time for the filing of an appeal has passed, the exhibits may be returned to the party who submitted the evidence.  If the party is either unavailable or declines to take the exhibits, the exhibits may be destroyed.  Medical reports submitted into evidence will remain in the case file.  (emphasis added).

. . .

8 AAC 45.112.  Witness list.  A witness list must indicate whether the witness will testify in person, by deposition, or telephonically, the witness’s address and phone number, and a brief description of the subject matter and substance of the witness’s expected testimony.  If a witness list is required under 8 AAC 45.065, the witness list must be filed with the board and served upon all parties at least five working days before the hearing.  If a party directed at a prehearing to file a witness list fails to file a witness list as directed or files a witness list that is not in accordance with this section, the board will exclude the party’s witnesses from testifying at the hearing, except that the board will admit and consider

     (1)  the testimony of a party, and


      (2)  deposition testimony completed, though not necessarily transcribed, before the time for filing a witness list.  (emphasis added).

8 AAC 45.114.  Legal Memoranda.  Except when the board or its designee determines that unusual and extenuating circumstances exist, legal memoranda must:

(1)  be filed and served at least five working days before the hearing; (emphasis added).

. . .

8 AAC 45.120. Evidence.  
(a) Witnesses at a hearing shall testify under oath or affirmation. . . .

. . .

(b) The order in which evidence and argument is presented at the hearing will be in the discretion of the board, unless otherwise expressly provided by law. All proceedings must afford every party a reasonable opportunity for a fair hearing.

(c) Each party has the following rights at hearing:

(1) to call and examine witnesses; 

                        (2) to introduce exhibits; 

(3) to cross-examine opposing witnesses; 

(4) to impeach any witness; 

(5) to rebut contrary evidence.

. . .

(e) Technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses do not apply in board proceedings, except as provided in this chapter.  Any relevant evidence is admissible if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions.  Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or explaining any direct evidence, but it is not sufficient in itself to support a finding of fact unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions.  The rules of privilege apply to the same extent as in civil actions.  Irrelevant or unduly repetitious evidence may be excluded on those grounds. . . .

(f) Any document . . . that is served upon the parties, accompanied by proof of service, and that is in the board’s possession 20 or more days before hearing, will, in the board’s discretion, be relied upon by the board in reaching a decision unless a written request for an opportunity to cross-examine the document’s author is filed with the board and served upon all parties at least 10 days before the hearing.

. . .

(i)  If a hearing is scheduled on less than 20 days’ notice or if a document is received by the board less than 20 days before hearing, the board will rely upon that document only if the parties expressly waive the right to cross-examination or if the board determines the document is admissible under a hearsay exception of the Alaska Rules of Evidence.  (emphasis added).

(j)  Subsections (f) – (i) apply only to objections based on hearsay, and do not limit the parties’ right to object to the introduction of document on other grounds. 

(emphasis added). 

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Appeals Commission in Guys with Tools v. Thurston, AWCAC Decision No. 062 (November 8, 2007), stressed the importance of the board making its decisions based on a complete record of both the employer's and employee's evidence.  The Commission explained:  
The exclusion of evidence, whether offered by the employee or the employer, does not serve the interest of the board in obtaining the best and most thorough record on which to base its decision. It results in efforts to exclude relevant evidence based on whether the party complied with formalities, instead of examining the relevance of the evidence to the dispute and, if admitted, the merits of the evidence….
Proceedings before the board are to be “as summary and simple as possible.” AS 23.30.005(h). The board is not bound by “common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure.” AS 23.30.135(a). The fundamental rule is that “any relevant evidence is admissible.” 8 AAC 45.120(e). The result of an exclusionary rule is inherently contrary to the open access to all relevant information regarding the claimant's injury that the workers’ compensation statutes are designed to promote. . . 

8 AAC 45.900.  Definitions.  (a)  In this chapter

. . .

(12)  “treating physician” means the physician designated by the employee as the person responsible for coordinating the medical treatment;

. . .

Alaska Rules of Evidence 

Rule 801.  Definitions.  


The following definitions apply under this article:

(d)     Statements Which Are Not Hearsay.  A statement is not hearsay if 

. . .

(1) Admission by Party-Opponent.  The statement is offered against a party and is  . . . (D) a statement by the party’s agent or servant concerning a matter within the scope of the agency or employment, made during the existence of the relationship . . .

            Rule 803.  Hearsay Exceptions – Availability of Declarant Immaterial.

            
The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule, even though the  declarant is available as a witness:

. . .

(3)       Business Records.  A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, opinions, or diagnoses, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge acquired of a regularly conducted business activity, and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make and keep the memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness, unless the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate lack of trustworthiness.  The term “business” as used in this paragraph includes business, institution, association, profession, occupation, and calling of every kind, whether or not conducted for profit.

. . .

According to Webster’s New World Dictionary, Second College Edition (1979): 

To “defer” is “to comply with or submit to the wishes, opinion, or decision of another.”  One who defers gives “deference” by “yielding in opinion, judgment, wishes, etc.,” out of  “courteous regard or respect.” 

To “refer” is “to send or direct (to someone or something) for aid, information, etc.”  One who refers provides a “reference” by “the giving of the name of another person who can offer information or recommendation.”

To “recommend” is “To counsel or advise (that something be done).”

ANALYSIS

1.     Were Claimant’s hearing brief and witness list timely filed and properly allowed, and was Claimant properly permitted to call witnesses?

The law requires witness lists and hearing briefs be filed and served five working days before a hearing.  When computing time under the Act, the day of the act after which the designated period of time begins to run is not included.  The last day of the period is included unless it is a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, in which case the period runs until the end of the next day, which is neither a Saturday, Sunday or holiday.  Because the language of the regulation for computing time under the Act is identical to Alaska Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 6(a), the regulation is interpreted as it would be under the Civil Rules.  The board’s former practice of computing days, where five days were in essence six, was reversed in House v. Bechtel, AWCB Decision No. 09-0184 (December 3,  2009), at n. 23, and In re Rainbow Builders, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 10-0034 (February 17, 2010).  

In this case, the hearing was scheduled for Wednesday, October 12, 2011.  The day of the act after which the designated period of time is computed, in other words the hearing date, October 12, 2011, is not included in the computation.  Counting back from October 12, 2011, day one was Tuesday, October 11, 2011, and day two was Monday, October 10, 2011.  Saturday and Sunday, October 8-9, 2011, are not included in the computation.  Day three was Friday, October 7, 2011, day four was Thursday, October 6, 2011, and day five, the fifth working day prior to the hearing, was Wednesday, October 5, 2011.  The parties’ hearing briefs and witness lists were due no later than October 5, 2011.  Claimant timely filed her hearing brief and witness list on Wednesday, October 5, 2011.  Claimant’s brief and witness list were properly allowed, and Claimant was properly accorded her right to call witnesses.  
2.     Were the nurse case manager notes properly admitted into evidence?

The law instructs that evidence, exhibits or other things received in evidence at the hearing, placed in the record by board order, or filed in the case file, constitute the written record at a hearing before the board.  8 AAC 45.110.  Any relevant evidence is admissible if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil cases.  8 AAC 45.120(e).  Hearsay evidence is admissible, but is not alone sufficient to support a finding of fact unless it would be admissible over objection in civil cases.  Id.  

The plain language of these regulations, taken together, reflect they are rules of inclusion, rather than exclusion of evidence.  8 AAC 45.110(a) and (b) anticipate evidence and exhibits will be received at hearing.  In the absence of a timely request for cross-examination, 8 AAC 45.120(f) permits the board to rely on documentary evidence filed 20 days before hearing.   It does not prohibit filing evidence less than 20 days before hearing.  Nor does it prohibit the board from considering  evidence filed less than 20 days before hearing.  Rather, 8 AAC 45.120(i) directs the board to rely on documentary evidence received less than 20 days before hearing if the parties expressly waive the right to cross-examination, or if the board determines the document is admissible under a hearsay exception in the Alaska Rules of Evidence.  8 AAC 45.120(i).  This is consistent with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Commission’s instruction in Guys with Tools:

The exclusion of evidence, whether offered by the employee or the employer, does not serve the interest of the board in obtaining the best and most thorough record on which to base its decision. It results in efforts to exclude relevant evidence based on whether the party complied with formalities, instead of examining the relevance of the evidence to the dispute and, if admitted, the merits of the evidence….
Proceedings before the board are to be “as summary and simple as possible.” AS 23.30.005(h). The board is not bound by “common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure.” AS 23.30.135(a). The fundamental rule is that “any relevant evidence is admissible.” 8 AAC 45.120(e). The result of an exclusionary rule is inherently contrary to the open access to all relevant information regarding the claimant's injury that the workers’ compensation statutes are designed to promote.
In this case, Employer did not waive its right to cross-examine the authors of those notes, but rather objected to their admission.   Under 8 AAC 45.120(i), however, these documents are admissible, and indeed the board “will rely” on them over a party’s objection, if the documents are admissible under a hearsay exception in the Alaska Rules of Evidence.  The nurse case manager notes in issue here were prepared by Liberty’s nurse case managers, contemporaneously with the contacts they reflect, in the usual course of regularly conducted business activities, and are admissible as business records under Alaska Rules of Evidence, Rule 803.  They were provided to Claimant by Employer, and thus contain circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness.  Moreover, as the insurer stands in the shoes of the employer, the insurer’s nurse case manager notes represent employer’s statements, and are thereby admissible under Evidence Rule 801.  

However, despite the admissibility of the nurse case manager notes under 8 AAC 45.120(i) and the Alaska Rules of Evidence, Employer was also granted an opportunity to cross-examine the notes’ authors.  One of the more prolific authors was Rose Freitag, RN.  Although Ms. Freitag was not listed on any witness list, Employer was permitted to call her as a witness and did so.   Another author, Alicia Aros, was listed on Employer’s witness list, but Employer chose not to call or cross-examine her.   Employer was further allowed to call and examine any authors, for whose testimony the record would remain open.  Employer elected to examine only Ms. Freitag, and by requesting the record close and a summary decision be issued on expedited consideration, expressly waived its right to cross-examine any of the other authors of the admitted notes.  

The decision to admit the nurse case manager notes supplied to Claimant by Employer, while preserving Employer’s right to cross-examine the documents’ authors, served the further purposes of obtaining the best and most thorough record on which the board can base its decision, and fulfilling the Act’s intent that cases be decided on their merits, impartially, with all parties afforded due process, an opportunity to be heard, and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.  The nurse case manager notes were properly admitted into evidence.

3.     Was the EME impermissibly scheduled by the insurer?  

The law prohibits an insurer alone, over the opposition of the employer, to require an employee to submit to a medical examination under AS 23.30.095(e).  Seley v. Pacific Log & Lumber, Ltd., AWCB Decision No. 07-0033 (February 23, 2007).  In Seley, the employee was seriously injured while employed by his father’s logging company.  When a dispute arose between the employer and the insurer over the direction of the litigation, the law firm initially engaged to represent both entities withdrew, and another law firm appeared on behalf of the insurer alone.  The employer was then represented by its owner, employee’s father, who opposed the insurer’s efforts to schedule an EME with a new EME panel.  The board held where a conflict arises between the employer and its agent the insurer, the insurer’s right to stand in the shoes of the employer falls away, and the insurer may not request the employee to submit to a medical examination under AS 23.30.095(e), a right reserved to employers alone.

The unique facts in Seley, however, do not exist in this case.  While a May 12, 2011 prehearing conference summary suggested a dispute may have been developing between Liberty, represented by its in-house counsel, Tasha Porcello, Esq., and CPH’s former CEO Ryan Smith, there is no evidence any dispute existed at the time of hearing or continues to exist.  On May 18, 2011, following the prehearing conference at which a divide appeared to be developing between Employer and its insurer, Ms. Porcello filed an amended entry of appearance, reflecting she was then representing Liberty alone.  At a June 1, 2011 prehearing conference the law firm of Russell, Wagg, Gabbert & Budzinski (RWGB) informally appeared on behalf of both Liberty and CPH, and another attorney, Paul Davis, Esq. informally appeared as CPH’s legal representative until such time as it determined who would be formally representing its interests.  On June 13, 2011, RWGB formally entered its appearance on behalf of both Liberty and CPH.  No attorney has entered an appearance on behalf of Employer alone, nor has Employer identified any other individual to represent it.  Under the circumstances, it is reasonable to conclude the employer and insurer had resolved any differences by the time RWGB filed its formal appearance on behalf of both interests on June 13, 2011. Ryan Smith’s testimony that he had differences with Liberty when he was CPH’s CEO is no longer relevant.  At the time of hearing Mr. Smith was no longer CPH’s CEO, had left CPH for a position at another hospital effective December 1, 2011, and had been replaced by an interim CEO, Rick Davis.   Accordingly, neither AS 23.30.095(e) or Seley are barriers to Liberty’s scheduling an EME in this case.

4.      Is the medical evaluation scheduled with Keyhill Sheorn, M.D. an excessive change of physician by Employer?

The Act allows an employee and an employer one change of physician without the written consent of the opposing party.  The term “physician” is interpreted broadly, and includes doctors of psychology.  Claimant’s argument the Alaska Supreme Court in Thoeni intended the term to also include non-doctorate level mental health providers, and thus BMI’s Ms. Harri, who holds a masters degree, was Employer’s first choice of physician, is unpersuasive in light of the court’s specific reference to “a Ph.D., Psy.D. or M.D.” as those qualified to conduct an inquiry into an employee’s mental health.  Thoeni at 1258.  

Employer in this case selected BMI as its behavioral medical case manager for evaluating and managing the psychological injuries Employer believed would be related to the traumatic work injury Claimant sustained.  Kate Harri, a masters level psychologist and BMI case manager, prepared an initial evaluation of Claimant at Employer’s request, managed Claimant’s case for Employer, including “coaching” Claimant, and provided Employer with numerous confidential written reports over a period of years.  Despite Employer’s mistaken belief Ms. Harri was a Ph.D. psychologist, holding only a masters level degree, she cannot be considered Employer’s first choice of EME physician.  

An employee selects a physician by obtaining treatment, advice, an opinion, or any type of service from a physician for an injury.  8 AAC 45.082(c)(2).  However, a physician is not an employee’s attending physician if the physician’s name was given to the employee by the employer, or the employer directed the employee to see the physician, and the employee has not designated that physician as his or her attending physician.  Id.   Where the employer suggests, directs, or schedules an appointment with a physician other than the attending physician, and the employee sees the physician the employer suggested or directed the employee see, the referred physician becomes the employee’s attending physician only where the employee then designates that physician, in writing, as the attending physician.  8 AAC 45.082(c)(4).

In May, 2009, Harri notified Employer’s nurse case manager that Claimant would benefit from face-to-face counseling, and recommended a maximum of 10 sessions “to help move treatment along and help [Claimant] deal w/her symptoms.”  In response to Harri’s recommendation, Employer, through its insurer, provided Harri with a list of its “preferred providers (psychologist),” and instructed her to contact them and select an appropriate counselor for Claimant. 

Harri interviewed four of Employer’s preferred providers and chose psychologist Ronald Brill, Ph.D.   Harri selected Dr. Brill in part because he was “focused on short term treatment” and had “experience w/ anxiety, depression & pain management.”  Harri did not provide Claimant with any choice of provider other than Dr. Brill.  Claimant saw Dr. Brill at Employer’s suggestion, noting on his information sheet she had been referred by Liberty.  Claimant never designated Dr. Brill as her attending physician.  In accordance with 8 AAC 45.082(c)(2)(B)(i) and 8 AAC 45(c)(4)(C), Dr. Brill cannot be considered Claimant’s treating physician.

On August 3, 2009, Ms. Harri conferred with Dr. Brill and directed him to work with Claimant on ways to increase her stress resilience generally.  Dr. Brill replied he would look at how Ms. Harri’s treatment instructions might be incorporated into his then current treatment plan.  Ms. Harri then reported to Employer, indicating she would be discussing Claimant’s status with Dr. Brill monthly, and by the end of August, 2009, would be setting a timeline with him for Claimant’s termination from therapy with him.   In discussions with Dr. Brill in September, 2009, Ms. Harri again requested Dr. Brill work on Claimant’s stress resilience.  She suggested Dr. Brill employ self-soothing and relaxation strategies, and sought and received Dr. Brill’s agreement his emphasis should not be to make Claimant dependent on therapy to feel better, but to increase her self-reliance, build on her skills and competence, and once skills were taught and reinforced, decrease her sessions to weekly as opposed to twice weekly.  

An employer chooses a physician by having a physician it selects give an oral or written opinion and advice after examining the employee, the employee’s medical records, or an oral or written summary of those medical records.  8 AAC 45.082(c)(3).  Employer, through BMI, selected Dr. Brill from among Employer’s short list of preferred providers.  His was the only provider name Claimant was given.  Claimant never designated Dr. Brill in writing as her attending physician for mental health issues, which may have converted his status to treating physician, but absent her designation did not.  Dr. Brill provided oral and written opinions and advice after examining Claimant.  Accordingly, under AS 23.30.095(e) and supporting regulations, Dr. Brill, a doctor of psychology, was Employer’s first choice of EME physician.  

Moreover, Employer, through BMI, directed Dr. Brill in matters and methods for his sessions with Claimant, and sought to establish the timeline for Claimant’s terminating therapy.  Dr. Brill accepted that direction.  While Dr. Brill was not BMI’s direct employee, as the medical management firm physician directing the employee’s care was in McCall, his selection by  Employer, his direction by BMI, his acceptance of BMI’s instructions for treatment, and his oral and written opinions and advice, further support the conclusion he was Employer’s first choice of EME physician.  

In November, 2010, Employer began considering a panel EME.  By January 13, 2011, Employer had organized an EME panel comprised of a rheumatologist, orthopedic surgeon and otolaryngologist.  Employer elected not to include a psychiatrist or psychologist on the panel, expressing its intent BMI would provide recommendations on future psychological or psychiatric needs through a records review.  The panel EME took place in Seattle on January 27, 2011.  Employer’s Seattle physician panel constituted employer’s one authorized change of physician.   

The disputed examination Employer scheduled with Dr. Sheorn, first for September 28, 2011, and then for October 26, 2011, was not scheduled within five days of the Seattle EME panel, and is therefore not part of the panel EME.  8 AAC45.082(c)(3).  However, referral to a specialist by the employer’s physician is not considered a change in physician.  AS 23.30.095(e).  While none of the three EME panelists recommended a psychiatric evaluation in their January 27, 2011, EME Report, and Dr. Daly deferred opinion and declined to make a recommendation for a psychiatric evaluation in his May 6, 2011 addendum report, Dr. Mohai, although repeatedly deferring to other specialties throughout his reports in response to questions posed, when asked directly if he recommended a psychiatric or mental health examination of Claimant “to comment on her eligibility to return to work from a mental health standpoint,” definitively responded: 

Yes.  I do believe that she experienced an extremely psychologically traumatic event.  At the time of the examination, she was quite composed, cooperative and appropriate, but I believe that she should have a more detailed psychiatric evaluation by a psychiatric consultant.  

Accordingly, Dr. Mohai recommended, and thereby referred Claimant for a psychiatric evaluation, and later endorsed Dr. Sheorn to perform it.  On referral from Dr. Mohai, a physician on the authorized Seattle EME panel, Dr. Sheorn’ selection to perform a psychiatric evaluation was not a change of physician, and thus not an excessive change of physician by Employer.  

Because Dr. Sheorn’s selection was on referral from Dr. Mohai and not an excessive change of physician, the propriety and admissibility of Drs. Farrington and Kurtz’s May 5, 2011 written opinion, not addressed by the parties in their briefs or at hearing, will not be addressed here.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1.   Claimant’s hearing brief and witness list were timely filed, were properly allowed, and Claimant was properly permitted to call witnesses.  

2.   Employer’s nurse case manager notes were properly admitted into evidence.

3.   The medical evaluation was not impermissibly scheduled by the insurer.

4.   The medical evaluation with Dr. Sheorn is not an excessive change of physician by Employer.  


ORDER
Claimant’s petition to quash the EME with Dr. Sheorn is denied.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 3 day of November, 2011.
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